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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

ANDREA BELLITTO and
AMERICAN CIVIL RIGHTS UNION,

Plaintiffs,
2
BRENDA SNIPES, in her official capacity
as the Supervisor of Elections of
Broward County, Florida,

Defendant,

V.

1199SEIU UNITED HEALTHCARE
WORKERS EAST,

Intervenor Defendant.
/

ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT
AND MOTION TO EXCLUDE OPINIONS AND TESTIMONY

THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon PlaiffitiAmerican Civil Rights Union’s
(“Plaintiff” or “ACRU”) Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ono@nt Il of the First
Amended Complaint, ECF No. [117] (“ACR4&J Motion”), Defendant Brenda Snipes’
(“Defendant” or “Snipes”) Motion for Summaryudgment as to Count Il of Plaintiff's First
Amended Complaint, ECF No. [145] (“Snipes’ Motion”), and Snipes and Intervenor Defendant
1199SEIU United Healthcare Workers East’'s (“ta&nor Defendant” or “United”) Motion for
Summary Judgment on Count | of PlaingffAmended Complaint, ECF No. [142] (the
“Snipes/United Motion”). Unitedhas also filed a Motion to Elude Opinions and Testimony of

Proposed Experts, ECF No. [144] (tHedubertMotion”). The Court ha carefully reviewed the
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Motions, the record, all supporting and opposinghdi§i, the exhibits attached thereto, and is
otherwise fully advised in the premises. [og reasons that follow, ACRU’s Motion, Snipes’
Motion, and the Snipes/United Motion are denied. Unit&sibert Motion is granted in part
and denied in part.
l. BACKGROUND

ACRU is a non-profit corporation “which gmotes election integy, compliance with
federal election laws, government transpareacy constitutional government.” ECF No. [12]
at 4. Snipes is the Supervisor of ElectiohdBroward County, Flada and has been since
November 2003. United is a labor union that &®3ion representing healthcare workers and
those who work in healthcare facilititsDefendant Snipes’ and Defendant-Intervenor United’s
Statement of Undisputed Material Facts upfort of their Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF
No. [143] (“Snipes/United Count | Supporting SOF”) at 112-3.

A. ACRUF's Initial Requests and theCommencement of this Lawsuit

On January 26, 2016, the President of ACRUsan A. Carleson (“Carleson”), sent a
letter to Snipes notifying her that, based ddRU’s research, Broward County was “in apparent
violation” of the National Voter Registian Act of 1993 (“NVRA”"), 52 U.S.C. § 20507.ECF
No. [12-1]. The letter explained that bdsen ACRU’s “comparison of publicly available
information published by the U.S. Census Bureau [(“Census Bureau”)] and the federal Election
Assistance Commission [(“EAC;) Broward County at the time “ha[d] an implausible number

of registered voters compared to tmember of eligible living citizens.”Id. at 2. The letter

10On September 19, 2016, United filed a motion to intervene, which the Court granted on September 20,
2016. SeeECF Nos. [23], [29]see alsECF No. [53].

2 Where a fact, as it is spifically incorporated herein, is uncontroverted by the opposing party, the Court
cites only to the originating statement of facts.

% As do the parties, the Court refers to 52 U.§Q@0507 interchangeably as “Section 8,” reflecting the
statute’s original location at Section 8 of Pub. L. 103-31, May 20, 1993, 107 Stat. 77.
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expressed ACRU’s hope that the Broward Cgusaipervisor of Elections’ Office (“BCSEQO”)
would work toward compliance with Section 8tbé NVRA as well as ACRU'’s intention to file

a lawsuit under the statute if such compliance was not achidsiedt 3. The letter also stated
that if the information referencdtlerein was no longer accurate, “it would be helpful if [Snipes]
could provide” documents related to the fallng: updated registtemn data since the
publication of information repted by the EAC for 2014 from the November 2014 election (the
“2014 EAC Report”); records obtaideor received from federahd state courts, including jury
recusal forms, regarding lack otizenship, death, or relocatiotine number of ineligible voters
removed by category and by date; the source agbatyrovided the identifying information of
the removed deceased and when the data wasdpchvihe number of notices sent to inactive
voters since the publication ofett2014 EAC Report, including tluate, scope, and contents of
any mailing sent to all registered voters; tla@mes of the staff responsible for conducting list
maintenance obligations; the nber of ineligible voters removed for criminal conviction,
together with the underlying data and communacgtiwith law enforcemeragencies; the total
number of voters registered Broward County as of the datd any response; any records
indicating the use of citizenship or immigratioatss for list maintenancactivities; and all list
maintenance records including federal voter regfistn forms containing citizenship eligibility
guestionnaires for the previous 22 montld. at 3-4. Citing SectioB of the NVRA, the letter
informed Snipes of the requirement that her office “make available for public inspection all
records concerning the implentation of programs and activiseconducted for the purpose of
ensuring the accuracy and currency dictdl lists of eligible voters.”Id. at 4. The letter invited
Snipes to call Carleson in order to arrange a time to discuss the matter and to arrange an

inspection. Id.
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On February 8, 2016, Snipes responded to AGRetter with a letter of her ownSee
ECF No. [12-2] at 1-2. Sngs’ letter refuted as “implausible” the assertion that Broward
County’s voter rolls were filled with more v@t than living personsesiding in the county,
advising ACRU that the State of Florida “hasstatewide databasend that Broward County
“adheres strictly to the State of Florida guideb regarding managemaitthe voter rolls.” Id.

The letter included two forms of certificatiospanning the previous several years—“Address
List Maintenance Activities” certificationsand “Eligibility Records Maintenance”
certifications—which it charaatzed as “documenting actiortaken by [Snipes’] office to
manage removal of voters no longer idlig to vote in Broward County.ld. at 2;see also idat
3-23. The letter also statedat Broward County “follows up on information received from
credible sources that a person may no longer be eligible to viatedt 2. The letter closed by
directing ACRU to BCSEQO’s General Counsed]ould [ACRU] require further information”
and BCSEOQO’s website as “an additional source of informatitoh.at 3.

About two months after the exahge of letters, legal repergatives of ACRU contacted
Snipes via telephone on April 5, 2016, “offer[irig]set up a meeting tiscuss [ACRU’S] letter
and inspect the requested records.” PldistiStatement of Undputed Material Facts
Supporting Motion for Partial Sunmary Judgment on Count I, EQNo. [118] (“ACRU Count Il
Supporting SOF”) at { 6. According to Snipésring that phone call she “provided the contact
information for [her] General Counsel in ord® coordinate inspection and follow-up” and
mentioned that there would be a cost factinology time.” Defendant Snipes’ Response to
Plaintiff's Statement of Materidtacts, ECF No. [128] (“Snip&3ount Il Response SOF”) at { 6.
ACRU asserts, however, that Snipes “refusethé®t to discuss remedies and permit inspection

of records[,] . . . stat[ing] &t she would meet with ACRU’gepresentatives only if election
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officials from six other Floridacounties were also @sent at the meeting.” ACRU Count Il
Supporting SOF at § 7 (emphasis omitted). Sngbeses that she ever refused to provide
documents or allow for an inspewst of records, asserting that she “explained that an inspection
meeting needed to be coordinated with [Gen@alnsel] given the threat of litigation and the
fact that the caller was an attorneyShipes Count Il Response SOF at § 7.

Nearly three months later, on June 27, 20iénd apparently without any further
communications having taking place betw&gdRU and Snipes—ACRU and Andrea Bellitto
(“Bellitto”), > one of ACRU’s members, initiated tieeproceedings, bringing two claims against
Snipes under Section 8 of the NVRASeeECF No. [1]. UnderCount | of its Amended
Complaint, ACRU claims that Snipes “has faitednake reasonable efforts to conduct voter list
maintenance programs, in violation of Sent8 of NVRA, 52 U.S.C. § 20507 and 52 U.S.C. §
21083(a)(2)(A) [Help America Vote Act (‘HAVA™)].”ECF No. [12] at § 28. Under Count Il of
the Amended Complaint, ACRU claims that S@p“has failed to spond adequately to
Plaintiffs’ written request for data, [and] failed produce or otherwise failed to make records
available to Plaintiffs conceing Defendant’'s implementatioof programs and activities for
ensuring the accuracy and currerafyofficial lists of eligible voters for Broward County, in
violation of Section 8 of #a NVRA, 52 U.S.C. § 20507(i).1d. at { 33. For relief, ACRU seeks
an order from this Court (1) declaring that Snigem violation of Setion 8 of the NVRA; (2)
ordering Snipes to implement reasonable and effective registration list maintenance programs to

cure failures to comply with the NVRA and ensthiat non-citizens and ineligible registrants are

* As a matter of timing, the NVRA requires a potentialiqiff to “provide written notice of [a] violation

[of this chapter] to the chief election official of the State involved.” 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(1). “If the
violation is not corrected within 90 days after retaif [the] notice[,]” the aggrieved person may file a
civil suit. 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(2).

®> On October 26, 2016, the Court dismissed all cldmsight by Bellitto after finding that Bellitto lacked
standing to bring suitSeeECF No. [64].
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not on Broward County’s voter rell (3) ordering Snipes taigstantively respond to ACRU'’s
written request for records concerning her impatation of programs armattivities to ensure
the accuracy and currency ofd@vard County’s voter registratn list and prowing access to
election records; and Y4dditional relief. See idat 9-10.

B. BCSEO Records Produced throughout Discovery

Following this case’s inception, the discoyeconducted by the parties revolved
primarily around ACRU'’s records requestsrsEgion October 31, 2016, ACRU served discovery
requests on Snipes requestiagmissions and responses tdeimogatories regarding list
maintenance activities as weals any new documents. ACRW@t Il Supporting SOF at 1 9.
In response to ACRU'’s discovery requestsip8s did not produce any new documents other
than the certifications she had provided with Rebruary 8, 2016 lettethough Snipes did offer
to allow an inspection of BCSEOi®ter registration databas8ee idat 1 12-13.

On January 13, 2017, ACRU conducted arpenson inspection of BCSEQ’s voter
registration databasdd. at  14. Certain categories of do@nts were not available during the
inspection because they were eitnot contained in the regiation database or required
“additional assembly” before they could be made availahde. Shortly thereafter, on January
26, 2017, Snipes provided ACRU with a CD contagna PDF file of a curré active voter roll
for Broward County and a PDF file of @ta list of mailingssent out by BCSEOId. at { 15.

On February 1, 2017, Snipes supplementedhitial response to ACRU’s October 31,
2016 discovery requestsSeeECF No. [111-2]. Irthe supplemental response, “which did not
include any additional documen{Snipes] objected to ‘the pduction of documents dating back
beyond a period of two years from the date of tlegfof subject Complaihand asserted that

responsive documents ‘within thest two years [] have alreadheen made avable for public
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inspection and copying on Janudd, 2017.” ECF No. [126] a&-3 (quoting ECF No. [111-2]
at 3)°

On February 9, 2017, Snipes provided ACRIth two CDs cordining a number of
different responsive documentSeeACRU Count Il Supporting SPat § 17. Additionally, on
March 8, 2017, Snipes provided ACRU with amehdersions of the certifications she had
initially provided with her February 8, 2016 letteGee id.at § 18 (citing ECF No. [111-4]).
Discovery closed on March 10, 2017.

C. BCSEO's Voter Registration and List Maintenance Procedures

Along with Snipes, BCSEOQO'’s responsibilgierelating to votermregistration and list
maintenance are primarily carried out byrg Nunez (“Nunez”), BCSEQO’s Information
Technology Director who maintains BCSEQ'’s votegistration databas&ary Hall (“Hall”),
BCSEOQ’s Voter Services Director who helpsimi@n the voter rolls; and Sonia Cahuesqui
(“Cahuesqui”), a voter registration clerk. SesfUnited Count | Supporting SOF at 1 4-7.

In accordance with requirements of the Flarldepartment of Stats (“DOS”) Division
of Elections (“DOE”), Nunez prepares twiceayly certifications summarizing Snipes’ list
maintenance activities, which are in turn signed and certified by Snipes and then provided to
DOE. Id. at 1 6; Plaintiff ACRU’s Opposition tbefendant Snipes’ anbefendant-Intervenor
United’s Statement of Undisputddiaterial Facts in Support tfieir Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment, ECF No. [160] (“ACRU’s Count | monse SOF”) at 1 6. The two types of
certifications include: (1) “Ceffication of Address List Maintemae Activities” that reports the
actions taken by Snipes to identify registea who have changed residence, cancel the

registrations of individuals o no longer reside in BrowardGnty, and update the registrations

® Snipes and ACRU disagree as to the scope of memgnt that took place between them at the January
13, 2017 inspectionSee generally idat 4-6. According to Snipes, ACRU agreed to lialitdocuments
contemplated in its discovery requestdoords spanning the previous two yedsee idat 5.
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of individuals who have moved within Browafdounty; and (2) “Certifiation of Eligibility
Records Maintenance” that reports the actionsndiyeSnipes to remove registrants who are or
have become ineligible because of deathpriglconviction, mental incapacity, or a lack of
United States citizenship. pes/United Count | Supporting $Oat  14. Nunez is also
responsible for placing orderwith, and sending data fileko, Commercial Printers, Inc.
(“Commercial Printers”), the third-party vendtrat performs printing and mailing services
related to Snipes’ list maintenancéd. at 6.

With respect to voter registration generaBCSEO asserts that, like most other Florida
counties, Broward County uses a voter registratiat@base system commonly referred to as the
“VR System” that was developed by VR Systeins, (“VR Systems”), an outside vendor with
which BCSEO contracts.ld. at {{ 9-10. According to Srap, the VR System “interfaces
directly with” the Florida Voter Registration Sgm (“FVRS”), a statewide voter registration
database that Florida maintains pursuant to HAMA. at 11 8-9. With respect to new voter
registration applications, BCSEO sends applcet it receives to DOE, which runs certain
clearance checks—including screening for lohape registrations by checking the new
applicant’'s information against the FVRS—befadvising BCSEO that the applicant has been
cleared for registration.ld. at § 11. In addition, DOE regubarprovides Florida’s election
supervisors, including Snipes, with lists ofrramt registrants who are deceased or have been
convicted of a felony.Id. at  15. In turn, BCSEO uses that information, which is transmitted
electronically by way of diredhteraction between FVRS and V&/stems, to update Broward
County’s voter registration database and toaee voters who have become ineligibld.

In total, between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2016, Snipes removed

approximately 240,028 registrants from Broward County’s voter rdiifs.at § 39. Between



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

January 7, 2015 and January 10, 2017, Snipesved approximately 192,157 registrants from
Broward County’s voter rollsld. at § 40. With respect to othepdates unrelatei registrant
removal, approximately 148,645 registered wwtbving within Broward County who were
registered as of January 7, 2015 and who weleragistered in Broward County as of January
10, 2017 updated their address on reconew address within Broward Countyl. at 1 41.

1. Procedures Relating to Residence Changes

According to Snipes, BCSEO uses thdloiwing three mailings—all of which are
conducted by Commercial Printers—to identifydaupdate or remove voters from the Broward
County voter rolls when voters have changed resiee(1) notifications teoters who have filed
a forwarding address with the United Statest®loService (“USPS”); (2) mailings related to
voting matters to all registrants in the county é8) targeted mailings to registrants who have
not voted for a certain period of timdd. at 1 16-17.

BCSEO certifications produced by Snipes reflect that Snipes utilized information
received from USPS’s National Change ofdiess (“NCOA”) program as part of her list-
maintenance activities in 2009, 2011, 2013, and 201&. at 7 19. “To identify voters with
changes of address, Defendant sends voteffrdaaVR Systems to Commercial Printers, which
is licensed and certified bjSPS] to use a program caleNCOALink. Using NCOALInK,
Commercial Printers receivepdated, computerized change-of-address information on a regular
basis.” Id. at 20 (internal citation omitted). Snipt#®en receives an “updated file” from

Commercial Printers, which it “imports into a software program called Voter Fotdisat § 21.

" ACRU disputes “whether Defendant updates ttdresses of registrants before sending out address
change notices[,]” asserting that “[a]t the véeast, no records have been produced showing [USPS
National Change of Address] databainformation received so thtite registrations could be updated
first.” ACRU’s Count | Response SOF at 16 (citing ECF No. [160-2] at 12).

8 ACRU asserts that “[t]he source of the supposed NCOA database informagityellow stickers’ on
returned mail and not from the NCOA databas@CRU’s Count | Response SOF at 16 (citing ECF
No. [160-3] at 6).
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From there, BCSEQ’s Voter Services teanogasses records identified based on the “data
comparison” as having changes in accordance with VR System’s instructions, and “a
forwardable notice is automatically schedutedbe sent to theppropriate voters[.]’Id. If a
voter does not respond o “Final Notice” within 30 days, thvoter’'s status is changed from
“active” to “inactive” inthe VR System databasdd. at { 22. If the votedoes not vote or
contact BCSEO in two general election cycles,wbeer’'s status i€hanged to ‘heligible” and
the voter is no longer registered to votd. at § 23. The most rece“NCOA comparison” was
conducted in May 2015ld. at § 24.
2. Procedures Relating to Deceased Voters

On a daily basis, DOE provides Snipes throby¥RS with a verified electronic list of
voters who have recently diedd. at § 26. Upon receipt of sutibts, Snipes then cancels the
relevant voter registration recorddd. On an occasional basis, Snipes receives information
indicating that a registrant is deceased from sources other than IBCE.{ 27. In those cases,
BCSEO will make efforts to ohitaa copy of the death certifi@before removing the registrant
from the voter rolls.ld. If BCSEO is unable to obtain amoof the death certificate, BCSEO
will send additional notices to the registrant’s last known address and will request DOE to
investigate the voter's statudd. Between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2016, Snipes
removed 37,095 registrants from Broward Countytger rolls that were determined to be
deceasedId. at T 28.

3. Procedures Related to Duplicated®grations and Felony Convictions

On a daily basis, BCSEO receives notifioas of potential duplicate registrations from

DOE via FVRS, and then consolidates the redistiaso that only one gistration is active.ld.

at § 29. BCSEO determines the correct cowrfityesidence by the mosécent update to the

10
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voter’s record. Id. Between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2016, Snipes removed more
than 9,000 duplicate registrantsl. at § 30.

Similarly, on a daily basis, BCSEO also recsian electronic list oindividuals with a
felony conviction from DOE. Id. at  32. BCSEO then gentas a letter to mail to each
registrant on those lists, which registrant has 30 days tophe to by either confirming or
contesting the information contained in the noficil. If no reply is received within 30 days,
BCSEO publishes a notice in the newspapdr. If no reply is received within 30 days from the
newspaper publication, the regiant is automatically reoned from the voter rollsld. Between
January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2016, Snipewved 5,102 registrants from Broward
County’s voter rolls that were determined to have a felony convictcn.

4. Procedures Related to Non-Citizens

Like the National Voter Registration ForrRjorida’s voter registration form requires
applicants to affirm their citizesip under penaltgf perjury. Id. at  35. Occasionally, the U.S.
Department of Homeland Security sends individugpplying for United States citizenship to
BCSEO in order to obtain documentation indicativitether or not they ha& registered to vote
as non-citizensld. The individuals found to have registdrto vote as noaoiizens are removed
from the voter rolls.Id. Between January 1, 2014 anddember 31, 2016, Snipes removed four
registrants from Broward Countyter rolls as non-citizendd. at { 37.

[I. LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Expert Testimony
Federal Rule of Evidence 702 governs theniagdibility of expert testimony. When a

party proffers the testimony of an expert undeleRi02, the party offerinthe expert testimony

°® The mailings to individuals convicted of a felony are handled by BCSEO directly, rather than by
Commercial Printersid.

11
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bears the burden of laying tipeoper foundation, and that partyust demonstrate admissibility
by a preponderance of the eviden&eeRink v. Cheminova, Inc400 F.3d 1286, 1291-92 (11th
Cir. 2005);Allison v. McGhan Med. Corp184 F.3d 1300, 1306 (11th Cir. 1999). To determine
whether expert testimony or any report prepared by an expert may be admitted, the Court
engages in a three-pdarquiry, which includes whether: (Ihe expert is qudied to testify
competently regarding the matters he intetmlsaddress; (2) the methodology by which the
expert reaches his conclusionssigficiently reliable; and (3) thtestimony assists the trier of
fact, through the application of scientific, technical, or spesdliexpertise, to understand the
evidence or to deterngna fact in issue.SeeCity of Tuscaloosa v. Harcros Chems., Jr58
F.3d 548, 562 (11th Cir. 1998) (citiigaubert 509 U.S. at 589). The Eleventh Circuit refers to
each of these requirements as the “qualifccet)” “reliability,” and “helpfulness” prongs.
United States v. Frazie387 F.3d 1244, 1260 (11th Cir. 2004While some overlap exists
among these requirements, the Court must individually analyze each caBeeptl.

An expert in this Circuit may be qualifie'by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or
education.” J.G. v. Carnival Corp.2013 WL 752697, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 27, 2013) (citing
Furmanite Am., Inc. v. T.D. WilliamspB06 F. Supp. 2d 1126, 1129 (M.D. Fla. 2007); Fed. R.
Evid. 702). “An expert is not necessarily unquatif simply because [his] experience does not
precisely match the matter at handd. (citing Maiz v. Viranj 253 F.3d 641, 665 (11th Cir.
2001)). “[S]o long as the expert is minimally tjified, objections to the level of the expert's
expertise go to credibilityral weight, not admissibility.” See Clena Investments, Inc. v. XL
Specialty Ins. C0.280 F.R.D. 653, 661 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (citiddpatrick v. Breg, Inc. 2009
WL 2058384 (S.D. Fla. June 25, 2009)). “After thistrict court undertakes a review of all of

the relevant issues and of an expert’s quatifices, the determination garding qualification to

12
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testify rests within the dtrict court’s discretion.”J.G, 2013 WL 752697, at *3 (citinBerdeaux
v. Gamble Alden Life Ins. G&28 F.2d 987, 990 (5th Cir. 1976)).

When determining whether an expert’s testign@reliable, “the trial judge must assess
whether the reasoning or rhetlology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid and
whether that reasoning or thedology properly can be appli¢d the factan issue.” Frazier,
387 F.3d at 1261-62 (internal formatting, quatati and citation omitted). To make this
determination, the district court examines: “(1)etlter the expert’'s theoigan be and has been
tested; (2) whether the theoryshiaeen subjected to peer wviand publication; (3) the known
or potential rate o€rror of the particular scientific tesigue; and (4) whetlmehe technique is
generally accepted in thecientific community.” Id. (citing Quiet Tech. DC-8, Inc. v.
Hurel-Dubois, UK Ltd. 326 F.3d 1333, 1341 (11th Cir. 2003)). h&'same criteria that are used
to assess the reliability of a scientific opiniomy be used to evaluate the reliability of
non-scientific, experience-based testimonid: at 1262 (citingkumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael
526 U.S. 137, 152 (1999)). Thus, the aforetiomed factors are non-exhaustive, and the
Eleventh Circuit has emphasized that alternagivestions may be moregirative in the context
of determining reliability.See id Consequently, trial judges afforded “considerable leeway”
in ascertaining whether a particupert’s testimony is reliabldd. at 1258 (citingkumhq 526
U.S. at 152)).

The final element, helpfulness, turns on whether the proffered testimony “concern[s]
matters that are beyond the understanding of the average lay peEsiwiards v. Shanleyp80
F. App’'x 816, 823 (11th Cir. 2014) (quotirkgazier, 387 F.3d at 1262) (formatting omitted).
“[A] trial court may exclude expert testimony that is ‘imprecise and unspecific,” or whose factual

basis is not adeqtely explained.” Id. (quoting Cook ex rel. Estate ofessier v. Sheriff of

13



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

Monroe Cnty., Flg.402 F.3d 1092, 1111 (11th Cir. 2005)). To be appropriate, a “fit” must exist
between the offered opinion and the facts of the cikxowell v. Brown392 F.3d 1283, 1299
(11th Cir. 2004) (citingddaubert 509 U.S. at 591). “For exangplthere is no fit where a large
analytical leap must be madetleen the facts and the opinionld. (citing General Electric

Co. v. Joiner522 U.S. 136 (1997)).

UnderDaubert a district court must take on the ralegatekeeper, buhis role “is not
intended to supplant the adversary sgsor the role of the jury.Quiet Tech.326 F.3d at 1341
(internal quotations and citations omitted). Throtlygk function, the district court must “ensure
that speculative, unreliable expert testimony does not reach the jiigCorvey v. Baxter
Healthcare Corp.298 F.3d 1253, 1256 (11th Cir. 2002). “[l]Jinst the role of the district court
to make ultimate conclusions as to ffersuasiveness of the proffered evidenc@uiet Tech.

326 F.3d at 1341 (internal quotations and citationstted). Thus, the district court cannot
exclude an expert based on a belief thatexpert lacks personal credibilitiRink 400 F.3d at
1293, n.7. To the contrary, “vigorsuross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and
careful instruction on the burden pfoof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking
shaky but admissible evidenceQuiet Tech.326 F.3d at 1341 (quotingaubert 509 U.S. at
596); see Vision | Homeowners Ass’n, Inc.Aspen Specialty Ins. C&74 F. Supp. 2d 1321,
1325 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (quotingpnes v. Otis Elevator Co861 F.2d 655, 662 (11th Cir. 1988)
(“On cross-examination, the oppoginounsel is given the opporttnio ferret out the opinion’s
weaknesses to ensure the jprgperly evaluates the testimoayveight and credibility.”)).

B. Summary Judgment

A court may grant a motion for summary judgm&hthe movant shows that there is no

genuine dispute as to any material fact andntiowant is entitled to judgment as a matter of

14
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law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The parties may support their positions by citation to the record,
including, inter alia, depositions, documents, affivits, or declarations.SeeFed. R. Civ. P.
56(c). An issue is genuine if “a reasonable trier of fact couldrrrejudgment for the
non-moving party.” Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. United Stafss$ F. 3d 1235, 1243
(11th Cir. 2008) (quotind\nderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&t77 U.S. 242, 247-48 986)). A fact

is material if it “might affect the outene of the suit under the governing lawld. (quoting
Anderson 477 U.S. at 247-48). TheoGrt views the facts in thegiht most favorable to the
non-moving party and draws all reasomalmhferences in the party’s favorSee Davis v.
Williams 451 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006). “The mexestence of a scirka of evidence in
support of the [non-moving party’s] position whke insufficient; there must be evidence on
which a jury could reasonably find for the [non-moving partyjriderson477 U.S. at 252. The
Court does not weigh conflicting evidenc&ee Skop v. City of Atlanta, G485 F.3d 1130,
1140 (11th Cir. 2007) (quotinGarlin Comm’n, Inc. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. C&02 F.2d 1352,
1356 (11th Cir. 1986)).

The moving party shoulders the initial burdiendemonstrate the absence of a genuine
issue of material factSee Shiver v. Chertp$49 F.3d 1342, 1343 (11th Cir. 2008). If a movant
satisfies this burden, “the nonmoving party ‘mustndare than simply show that there is some
metaphysical doubt as to the material fact®Rdy v. Equifax Info. Servs., L.L,827 Fed. Appx.
819, 825 (11th Cir. 2009) (quotingatsushita Elec. Indus. Cd.td. v. Zenith Radio Corp475
U.S. 574, 586 (1986)). Instead, “then-moving party ‘must maka sufficient showing on each
essential element of the case foriehhhe has the burden of proof.1d. (quotingCelotex Corp.

v. Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986)). The non-moving party must produce evidence, going

beyond the pleadings, and by its own affidavits, or by depositions, answers to interrogatories,
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and admissions on file, designatingesific facts to suggest thatreasonable jury could find in
the non-moving party’s favorShiver 549 F.3d at 1343.

A district court’s disposition of cross-mions for summary judgment, like the cross-
motions filed with respect to Count Il in thtmse, employs the same legal standards applied
when only one party files a motiorfseeUnited States v. Oakley44 F.2d 1553, 1555 (11th Cir.
1984) (“Cross-motions for summary judgmenilwot, in themselves, warrant the court in
granting summary judgment unless one of the martieentitled to judgme as a matter of law
on facts that are not genely disputed.”) (quotindricklayers Int'l Union, Local 15 v. Stuart
Plastering Co, 512 F.2d 1017, 1023 (5th Cir. 1975}) A court must consider each motion on
its own merits, “resolving all reasonable inferences against the party whose motion is under
consideration.” S. Pilot Ins. Co. v. CECS, In&2 F. Supp. 3d 1240, 1243 (N.D. Ga. 2014)
(citing Am. Bankers Ins. Group v. United Sta#88 F.3d 1328, 1331 (11th Cir. 2005)). “Cross-
motions may, however, be probative of the abseof a factual dispute where they reflect
general agreement by the partess to the controlling legal ¢lories and material facts.ld.
(citing Oakley 744 F.2d at 1555-563ge also Bricklayer$12 F.2d at 1023.

[ll. DISCUSSION

With this backdrop in mind, United movés summary judgmendn Count | (ACRU’s
claim for failure to make reasonable effottsconduct voter list maintenance programs), and
ACRU and Snipes, respectively, move for susmynjudgment on Count Il (ACRU'’s claim for
failure to disclose). In adiitbn, United moves to strike ACRU’s two proposed expert withesses

who it appears will, if allowed, offer testimony that supports ACRU’s claim under Count I. The

19In Bonner v. City of Prichard661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 198#h(bang, the court adopted as
binding precedent all decisions of the Fihicuit issued prior to October 1, 1981.
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Court will therefore address ACRUBaubert Motion first, and will then turn to the parties’
respective motions for summary judgment.

A. United’s Daubert Motion™*

United seeks to exclude ACRU’'s proposedperts, Dr. Steven Camarota (“Dr.
Camarota”) and Scott Gessler (“Gessler”),tba bases that both aumqualified to offer any
opinion in this case and that tkatirety of their respective opons is unreliable, speculative,
and/or unhelpful. For the most part, the Court disagrees.

1. Dr. Camarota

United challenges the testimony of Dr. Caata under the first two elements of
Daubert—that is, qualifications and reliability. Mdnited’s view, because Dr. Camarota “is not
versed in voter registration policy and is not a statistidme is [] wholly unqualified to offer an
opinion—Ilet alone an expert opinion—on the issuadispute in this case.” ECF No. [144] at 2.
United’s assessment, however, misconstruespitimary purpose for which ACRU seeks to
introduce Dr. Camarota’s testimoayd, in turn, understates Dr. Cawia’s credentils to that

effect. As ACRU correctly pais out, the essence of Dr. Capta’s expert opinion is an

1 The Court notes that United failed to maati confer with ACRU prior to filing itBaubertMotion as
required by Local Rule 7.1(a)(3) and this Camrinitial Scheduling Order, ECF No. [127] at 2—an
independent basis for denial. The Court will nevertheless considbathzertMotion on the merits.

2 The merits aside, ACRU argues that becahisecase is set for a bench trial, UniteBsubertMotion

is inappropriate, and that “the prudent course setonit ACRU’s experts tofter testimony during trial,

where its relevance and reliability can be judged endbntext of ACRU’s legal arguments in support of

its claims.” ECF No. [156] at 2-4. Howevarone of the cases ACRU cites to in support of this
proposition involved evidentiary deteimations made in contemplation of summary judgment. Here, by
contrast, resolution of the Snipes/United Motion summ part on the admissibility of ACRU’s proposed
experts. It is axiomatic, as explained by the Eleventh Circuit, that “[e]vidence inadmissible at trial cannot
be used to avoid summary judgmenCbrwin v. Walt Disney Cp475 F.3d 1239, 1249 (11th Cir. 2007)
(quoting Broadway v. City of Montgomery, Ala530 F.2d 657, 661 (5th Cir.1976)) (alteration in
original); see alsoFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B) (“A party assedithat a fact . . . is genuinely disputed
must support the assertion by . . . showing that . . . an adverse party cannot produce admissible evidence
to support the fact.”); Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(5)(2) {garty may object that the material cited to support or
dispute a fact cannot be presented in a form tlmatldvbe admissible in evidence.”). Thus, the Court
finds it both appropriate and necessary to consider UniialibertMotion.
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assessment, based in part on data provided by.eCensus Bureau, of the ratio in Broward
County of the total number of registered vetén the voting-eligible citizen population as a
whole, compared to the same ratios elsen@hn Florida and tioughout the countrySeeid. at

34 (“Taken at face value, these numbers inditiad¢ nearly every eligible person in Broward
County is registered to vote. . . . In sum, tbgistration rates for Braavd County . . . are much
higher than the rates in Florida, the nation, andadhgr state.”). It is with this specific purpose
in mind that the Court will measeithe qualifications of Dr. Camarota and the reliability of his
testimony.

Regarding qualifications, Dr. Camarota received a master’'s degree in political science
from the University of Pennsylvania and a wwate in public policy analysis from the
University of Virginia. While completing his dtorate, Dr. Camarota “was focused on analysis
of primarily Census Bureau data . . . looking atissues associatedtiwU.S. immigration.” Id.
at 70. Dr. Camarota is currently the DirectoRa&search for the Centfar Immigration Studies
(CIS)—a research institute that focuses on emang the consequences of immigration on the
United States—where he has worked since caingléis doctorate. Nably, Dr. Camarota has
previously served as an exparitness in a number of lawsuitat least one of which required
him to analyze “population estimates and Census Bureau da&sgd’idat 80-81. Dr. Camarota
has also “served as the leadearcher on a contract with the Census Bureau examining the
quality of immigration data in the [Census Bau’'s] American Community Survey [(*“ACS”)].”

Id. at 27. As is evident, Dr. Camarota has extensive experience and familiarity with analyzing
data provided by the Census Bureau, including @ensus Bureau's ACS. In light of that
experience, the Court is satisfied that @amarota is at least minimally qualifiedSee

Furmanite 506 F. Supp. 2d at 1129 (“An expert is not necessarily unqualified simply because
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[his] experience does not precisely match the matter at hand.”). Specifically, it is a Census
Bureau ACS estimate—namely, the total number of voting-eligible citizens in Broward
County—that serves as the denoator of the voter registratiaates from which Dr. Camarota
intends to testify. Although Uniteis not wrong to point out # Dr. Camarota is not a
statistician and “has no formahsstical training outsidef a three-month [coge] he attended . .
. during graduate school[,jd. at 6, the voter registration rates he seeks to offer constitute a
straightforward division calculen. Above the denominatonentioned above, the numerator
purports to be the total numbef actual registered voters—an EAC Election Administration
Voting Survey (“EAVS”) estimate that is bad on data compiled and submitted by state and
local election officials themselvesSeeECF No. [144] at 2-3. In tkh sense, the Court finds Dr.
Camarota’s statistical background, lack thereof, to be largelyrelevant. Dr. Camarota is
therefore qualified to &ér testimony as to the paorted voter registration rates he has compiled.
That said, Dr. Camarota’s lack of statistical expertise is relevant insofar as Dr. Camarota
intends to take his voter regidiom rates a step further by testifgi as to their overall accuracy.
In defending Dr. Camarota’s difecations, ACRU initially catends that his testimony “is
simply what the publically available data, including statements by the Defendant h&hself,
the ratio of registrants\er eligible voters to bé Id. at 16 (emphasis added). But even ACRU
recognizes that Dr. Camarota intends to testify to more than ®e¢. id.(characterizing the
“subject matter” of Dr. Camarota’s testimony“aspeating publically available registration and
demographic datand why they are reliablg (emphasis added). This concern with the
reliability of the voter registration rates speak®pinions offered by Unités expert, Dr. Daniel
A. Smith (“Dr. Smith”). Dr. Smith assertsahpopulation counts from the ACS should not be

used to calculate registrationtega because the ACS, being a syrvcontains sampling error.
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SeeECF No. [150] at 9-10. In an effort tobwg that position, Dr. Camarota opines that the
margins of error for the ACS estimates are gagilantifiable and small, thereby rendering the
ACS estimates accurate overaBeeECF No. [144] at 34-35. DCamarota may be right about
this, but the statisticadature of this opinion, which is obuis, renders it beyond the scope of his
expertise.See idat 9 (“[A] survey’s natural irprecision can be quantified usibgsic statistics
to produce aonfidence intervahround any particular estimate. . Table 2 and Table 3 report
confidence intervals usingargins of errorat differentsignificance levelsThe margins of error
are small, and subsequently theiagon in likely registations rates in theotinty is also small.”)
(emphasis added). Thus, although Dr. Camaretgualified to offer testimony as to the
purported voter registration rateg has compiled (e.g., presenting the figures themselves and
comparing them to similar figures related tdhet localities), he is not qualified to offer
testimony as to the degree of accuratyhose rates—a statistical inquirsee, e.g.IMPACT v.
Firestone 893 F.2d 1189, 1192, 1195 (1X@r. 1990) (finding no erroin excluding testimony
from a political scientist regarding statistical disparities in employment decisions where the
witness did not have training or significant experience as a statistibatigtier v. Dooney &
Bourke, Inc.525 F. Supp. 2d 558, 642 (S.D.N.Y. 200V tile [the excluded expert] may have
used statistics in his work (as most people doni® extent or another) thitbes not mean that he
is sufficiently qualified to testify to the distical significance of[his proposed expert
findings].”).

Turning to reliability, United challenges thmeliability of Dr. Camarota’s testimony by

attacking the methods he empldyt® calculate the voter regiation rates and, to an extent,

13 ACRU also argues that “if a degree in statisticas necessary to opine on the voter registration and
population data relevant to this case, [Dr. Smith] wauted to be disqualified[] [because he] is not a
statistician and his credentials arengar to Dr. Camarota. . . .” ECF No. [156] at 16. However, for
purposes of this Order, it is Dr. Camarota’s testigy not Dr. Smith’s, that is under scrutiny.

20



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

some of the underlying data upon whiwh relied for those calculation&§eeECF No. [144] at
16-19. United asserts: “Simply ptie analysis used by [] Dr. Camogéa . . . compares different
sets of numbers reflecting differegperiods of time, which thereferare not at all comparable.”
Id. at 19. The Court does not shaheited’s reliability concerns.

First, United calls intaquestion the reliability of DrCamarota’s testimony on the basis
that there is no evidence that Dr. Camarotaéthodology has been subject to peer review, used
by other statisticians, dnvolves reliable, recognizestatistical techniquesld. at 16. With
respect to peer review and useother statisticians, the Cowlves not find the absence of such
to be dispositive under the circumstanc&dee Am. Gen. Life Ins.oCv. Schoenthal Family,
LLC, 555 F.3d 1331, 1338 (11lth Cir. 2009) (“Standaddisscientific relability, such as
testability and peer review, do not apply abh forms of expert t&timony. For nonscientific
expert testimony, ‘the trial judge must have coesatlle leeway in deciding in a particular case
how to go about determining whether particidapert testimony iseliable.™) (quotingkumhq
526 U.S. at 151) (inteml citation omitted);see alsoFrazier, 387 F.3d at 1262. What Dr.
Camarota has essentially done is take palli available datathat was compiled by
governmental agencies and penfiostraightforward division calcuians with that data. Dr.
Camarota then seeks to offer figures reflectmgse calculations. In the Court’s view, this does
not necessarily require peer review.

As for the purported lack of recognizedatsitical techniques in Dr. Camarota’s
methodology, there is a presumption that the data used by Dr. Camarota—particularly the
Census Bureau’'s ACS voting-eligible populatiestimates—are accurate and involve reliable
statistical techniquesSee, e.g.Johnson v. DeSoto Cty. Bd. of Comm2@4 F.3d 1335, 1341-42

(11th Cir. 2000) (“The presumpti is that census figures are dooally accurate. . . . And, this
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court has previously said, in a voting rightase, that statistical evidence derived from a
sampling method, using reliable statisticacliniques, is admissible on the question of
determining the releva population.”) (citingNegron v. City of Miami Beach, Florigda13 F.3d
1563, 1570 (11th Cir. 1997))oter Integrity Project NC, Inc. v. Wake Cty. Bd. of Elections
2017 WL 684185, at *5 (E.D.N.C. Feb. 21, 2017TH& court notes that there is nothing
inherently wrong with VIP-NC's reliance on census data to support its claim.”) (éitmcCivil
Rights Union v. Martinez—Riverd66 F. Supp. 3d 779, 791 (W.D. Tex. 2015)). United argues
that Dr. Camarota’s comparison of the EAVE&gistration number to the ACS population
estimate is flawed because it comparesdetual registration number to astimatedoopulation
number[.]” ECF No. [144ht 18 (emphasis in original). Asich, United appears to take issue
with the use oestimatesn Dr. Camarota’s figures. Contrary to what United suggests, however,
there is nothing inherently problematic with tiige of a population estimate in measuring data,
especially where, as here, there is no indication that the estimate was tainted in any way. The
Eleventh Circuit has explainéa another voting rights case:

[W]e would [] uphold the district court's cddsration of the citienship statistics,

even though those statistics are based opkadata. The use of sample data is a

long-standing statisticaechnique, whose limits are known and measurable. We

will not reject the citizenship statistis®lely because they are based on sample

data without some indication that the sdnpas tainted in some way. There were

no arguments before the district court that the sample was skewed in a statistically

significant way due to improper samplimgethod, small sample size, or sheer

random error.
Negron 113 F.3d at 1570 (recognizing that becatlse challenged Miami Beach citizenship
information from the Census Bureau was #ghsipon a sample population, it [could not] be as
precise as [] census data[] . . . based upon the entire population[,]” but nevertheless rejecting the

plaintiff's attempt to call into queion the accuracy of that infortian). Thus, to the extent that

the ACS population estimates used by Dr. Camatotaot lend to the kind girecision an exact

22



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

value might, such a concern speaks to thegkeiof Dr. Camarota’s figures, not their
admissibility. SeeJohnson 204 F.3d at 1342 (“If the evidea is admissible, that voter
registration data might not be as reliable as some other measures of population goes to the weight
of the evidence, but does not precludeafshe figures by the district court.”).

Second, United argues that Dr. Camarotaimgarison of the EAVS registration number
to the ACS population estimate is flawed besgait compares “a registration numbenatingle
point in timewhen registration rates are highestato average population number over a five-
year period.” ECF No. [144] 48 (emphasis in original). Reglng that five-year period, Dr.
Camarota’s “five-year” ACS data—whichalude five-year estimates reported in 2010, 2012,
and 2014—reflects information collect during the five-year period of time that ends in the
respective reporting year that is then “totaledkbe@nd weighted to a olyear control point.”"See
id. at 29 n.8jd. at 48;id. at 49-50 (“[T]hink of it this way: e five-year ACS data] has basically
the same effect as if you wet@ take all the years and aveeathiem together. . . . So you can
think of it as the midyear of #t year.”). United contends &hit is problematic that Dr.
Camarota, in calculating the voter registration rdidisjde[d] the EAVS rgistered voter figure
by ACS eligible population estimatésr the same yedr Id. at 18 (emphasis in original). “In
other words, the 2006-2010 5-year ACS estimisiie median year of which is 2008, should not
be used as a denominator for a 2010 EAVS numeratat.” According to United, “the 2010
EAVS numerator should be compared againsieaominator that more closely estimates the
2010 population, which would come frotine 2008-2012 5-year ACS dataltl. Importantly,
however, Dr. Camarota used “single-year ACS 'dasawell, which appears to do just that—that
is, offer a denominator that more abs estimates the EAVS numeratorSee id.at 33

(calculating voter registration rates based looth one-year and vie-year ACS eligible
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population estimates for the years 2010, 2012, and 200 Court notes that United makes no
mention of Dr. Camarota’s use of single-year ACS data. To the extent that Dr. Camarota will
testify as to voter registratiaiates he calculated using both sexgkar ACS data and five-year
ACS data, the Court believes that “vigorfjusross-examin[ation]” and the testimony of
United’s own witnesses, such as that of Dr.itBjrare the proper vehicles to address United’s
concerns.Quiet Tech.326 F.3d at 1341.

Based on the foregoing, the Court concluded the testimony Dr. Camarota seeks to
offer is admissible, but with one qualificationDr. Camarota may testify as to the voter
registration rates that he has calculated (as reflact his expert reportput he may not testify
as to the degree of accuracy of those rates.

2. Gessler

After reviewing Florida’s law on voter lighaintenance and the evidence in this case
related to the voter list maintemze practices utilized by BCSEGgeECF No. [144] at 4-12,
Gessler opines that Snipes “hadt . . . taken reasonable steépsaddress well-known or easily
identified problems with its list maintenanpeogramsy,]” including “[b]loated voter rolls™—
which “serve as a warning sigrathproblems exist’—and the presence of deceased voters on the
voter rolls,id. at 49, 11 42, 45d. at 55, T 75. Gessler concludes pioposed expert report with
recommendations of “reasonable steps Browardn@/ should take in order to develop a general
program and maintain the accuracy of the county voter rolés.at 57, § 87. United challenges
the testimony of Gesslen all three prongs dbaubert

Turning first to qualificationsGessler's general credentials include a law degree from the
University of Michigan and an M.B. from Northwestern University.ld. at 38, 1 4. More

pertinent to the issues involved in this case, @esdrved as ColoraddRecretary of State from
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January 2011 to January 201H. at 39, { 5. In that capacity, Gessler was Colorado’s chief
election officer, a position that required himdeersee election officials in Colorado counties,
review the election practices and procedure€abrado counties, maintain the voter database
and voter registration systems for Colayadand maintain Colorado’s voter rolls.lId.
Additionally, Gessler handled “dtawvide coordination and compthiee with all federal election
laws, including the [NVRA] [ad] the [HAVA] . . ..” Id. Gessler details ihis expert report his
experience in identifying, creating, and implertneg list maintenance poles and practices as
well as his experience identifying and respondingéeoceived deficient policies and practices
related to the voter regjration lists he oversaw—includingsponding to the threat of a lawsuit
alleging noncompliance with Section 8 of the NVR3ee generally icat 39, {1 9-10.

Despite the particular experiggs of Gessler as the chieéelons officer of Colorado,
United argues that Gessler “is unsuitegbtovide an expert opinion in this casdd. at 3. The
primary rationale for that argument is thatsSler “lacks any knowledge of Broward County’s
voting registration policyor voter roll maintenance, the vog policy of any state other than
Colorado, or the implementation of cdupolicy at the county level[.]’ld. at 2-3. United
elaborates that, “[e]xcluding his preparatitor this case, Mr. Gessler has little—if any—
knowledge of Florida’'s or Broward County’s eotregistration and vet roll maintenance
systems|,]” and emphasizes that in Coloradbe ‘tduty of implementing election policy belongs
to the state’s counties.Id. at 9. Nevertheless, the Court fintisit Gessler is at least minimally
gualified to offer an expert opinion in this cgséth one caveat, as explained below) given the
apparent overlap between his que experiences as Colorado’s®tary of State and the issues
in this case. Most notably, Gessler's knowledge and expertise in the field of voter roll list

maintenance are tied directly to the same federal standard under the NVRA with which Snipes is
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required to comply. In the Cdis view, the particidr concerns raised by United speak to the
level of Gessler's expertise, and thereftre weight to be afforded his opinionseeFed. R.

Evid. 702 (basing qualifications on a proposed esgéknowledge, skill, experience, training,

or education”)Frazier, 387 F.3d at 1260-61 (explaining thataitdition to scientific training or
education, “experience in feld may offer another ph to expert status”)Waite v. All
Acquisition Corp. 194 F. Supp. 3d 1298, 1304 (S.D. Fla. 2016) (“[S]o long as the expert is
minimally qualified, objections to the level of te&pert's expertise go twedibility and weight,

not admissibility.”) (quotingClena Investments, Inc. v. XL Specialty Ins., @80 F.R.D. 653,

661 (S.D. Fla. 2012)) (altation in original).

That said, the Court notes that like Dr. Canta's expert report, Gessler's expert report
compares Census Bureau ACS data with EAJ&B to support some diiie opinions stated
therein, such as the following: “An unusually higlrgentage of registered voters serves as one
of the main indicators that a jurisdiction doaot take reasonableeps to maintain voter
registration lists. Broward County &classic example of a juristion that has alarmingly high
voter registration rates . . . ECF No. [144] at 49, 1 43. The Cois not convinced that Gessler
has the requisite expertise in ayrhg this kind of data to offeopinions that make assessments
as to Broward County’s voter gistration rates. By comparison, ACRU has shown that Dr.
Camarota has extensive experience in analygiensus Bureau data, like the ACS, and other
population related data. No comparable sihhgwhas been made with respect to Gessler, a
lawyer by trade. Thus, althoudbessler is certainly qualifie offer opinions concerning the
specific list maintenance policiesd procedures utilized (and ngtlized) by Snipes, the Court
does not find that he is qualified to offer datasein opinions relating t8roward County’s voter

registration rates.
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With respect to reliability, United comtds: “No clear methodology is discernible from
Mr. Gessler’'s opinion. Happears to have arrived at lenclusions by simply applying his
personal knowledge of Colorado’s eotregistration system at tis¢éate level and his review of
Florida law to the information about Browa@unty found in documents produced and the data
sources generated for this caséd’ at 10. Importantly, United’s reliability attacks focus almost
entirely on Gessler’s opinions concerning Beods County’s voter regisition rates—a subject
that in any event Gesslerusiqualified to testify aboutSee, e.gid. at 10 (describing Gessler’s
methodology as “rel[ying] on two data sets dnafnom calculations and analysis of population
statistics”);id. at 11 (emphasizing that “Mr. Gessler is adtatistician[,]” “has little familiarity
with EAVS data[,]” and “has nbasis for determining at whhdvel a registration rate becomes
potentially problematic”)jd. at 16 (collectively addressiri@pr. Camarota’s and Mr. Gessler's
methodology” by noting, among other things, tttae methodology used iboth reports” lacks
evidence of an “error rate” and “reliablescognized statistical techniquesiy; at 17 (stating
that “Dr. Camarota’s and MGessler's methodology consists aflawed comparison between
dissimilar data points”). The only discernibbdallenge by United as to the reliability of
Gessler's opinions concerning the list mamaece policies and procedures employed by
Snipes—a subject that Gessler qualified to tetify about—is thatGessler “[cites] no
comparative studies of state voter registration systems, nonabgjuidelines, and no widely
accepted best practices . . . [and offers] no egpiam of how his limited Colorado experience
suffices as support for his opinions on Broward County’s practickk.’at 14. However, the
Court finds that Gessler’s testimony is sufficlgmeliable based “upofhis] personal knowledge
[and] experience.”Kuhmq 526 U.S. at 151. He has formed his opinions based on his personal

experiences in attempting to maintain compleamath the NVRA as Colorado’s chief elections
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officer and his review of the evidence in tluase. The Court does not find that Gessler's
testimony is rendered unreliable simply becauseh&® not served as an election official in
Florida or Broward County ocited comparative studies or national guidelin&ee Maiz v.
Virani, 253 F.3d 641, 669 (11th Cir. 2001)éfendants] assert th&chwartz’'s testimony is not
reliable because it is based lagon his personal experience &ththan verifiable testing or
studies. Althougaubertapplies to all expetestimony, . . . there is rmguestion that an expert
may still properly base his testimony on ‘preg@nal study or personal experience.’ Defendants’
objection is unfounded on this record. . . . Deferntglaobjections plainly go to the weight and
sufficiency of Schwartz's opinions rathit@an to their admissibility.”) (quotingumhqg 526 U.S.

at 151) (internal citations omitted).

Finally, United argues that Gessler’s testimomyl not assist thefactfinder, but will
instead “improperly usurp[] the role of the fdetder.” ECF No. [144]at 19. Specifically,
United suggests that Gessler has merely weighed the evidence in this case by “review[ing] only
the documents and sources of data preparedrfgenerated by this Igation, and evaluat[ing]
the veracity of statements made by Dr. Sniged other witnesses regarding Broward County’s
voter registration and voterlfonaintenance practices.d. But Gessler's expert report purports
to do more than just simply weigh the evidemntehis case. For example, Gessler intends to
identify list maintenance préces that in his opinion Snis should employ, but does ndee,
e.g, id. at 50, 1 48-52 (use dfiver license data)d. at 51, {1 53-55 (use of jury notices). In
doing so, Gessler will opine on industry practitesis familiar with, what he perceives as
deficiencies in BCSEOQ's list maintenance programg how he believes such deficiencies can be

remedied. See idat 51-57. In the Court’s view, thisnid of testimony, though not scientific, is
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“beyond the understanding of the average lay peraad’will lend assistance to the factfinding
in this case.Frazier, 387 F.3d at 1262.

However, as United correctly points out, Gessllso provides an opinion on the ultimate
legal question raised by AQJ’'s claim under Count |.SeeECF No. [144] a#l1, § 12 (opining
that Snipes “has failed to conduct a general nogand has failed toka reasonable steps to
maintain the accuracy of the county voter rolls'Gessler is precluded from giving testimony
that ultimately states legal conclusionSee Cordoves v. Miami-Dade Countp4 F. Supp. 3d
1350, 1365 (S.D. Fla. 2015) (“[A]xpert may offer his opinion as facts that, if found, would
support a conclusion that the legal standardsateisvas satisfied, but he may not testify as to
whether the legal standard has been satisfiéztation omitted) (alteration in original).

Based on the foregoing, the Cbuaoncludes that the testimony Gessler seeks to offer is
admissible, so long as that iestny does not relate to Browa@bunty’s voter rgistration rates
or to any legal conclusions.

B. Summary Judgment Motions

1. Claim for Failure to Make Reasonablef@ts to Conduct Votelist Maintenance
Programs (Count I)

a. The Snipes/United Motich
“Congress' stated purposes enacting the NVRA werejnter alia, ‘to establish
procedures that will increase the number of elggibtizens who register to vote in elections for
Federal office; ... [and] to ensure that actairand current voter registration rolls are
maintained.” A. Philip Randolph Inst. v. Huste®38 F.3d 699, 705 (6th Cir. 2016), cert.

granted, No. 16-980, 2017 WL 515274 (U.S. My 2017) (quoting 52 8.C. § 20501(b)).

14 Although Snipes and United have requested a heas#gECF No. [142] at 19, the Court finds the
matters presented in the Snipes/United Motion sulitiale determination on the papers and without oral
argument.
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“These purposes counterposeotgeneral, sometimes conflietj, mandates: To expand and
simplify voter registration processes so that more individualstexgand participate in federal
elections, while simultaneously ensuring thatevolists include only eligible . . . voters.”
Common Cause of Colo. v. Bues¢h#s0 F. Supp. 2d 1259, 1274 (D. Colo. 2010). “Those
sometimes conflicting mandates are reflected inlahguage of Section 8 of the NVRA . . . .”
Husted 838 F.3d at 705.

Subsection (a) of Section 8 states thatn“fihe administration of voter registration for
elections for Federal office, each State shall . ovide that the name @f registrant may not be
removed from the official list of eligible voteexcept” under certain cuenstances. 52 U.S.C. §
20507(a)(3)see alsaS. Rep. No. 103-6, at 19 (1993) (“[O]akthe guiding principles of [the
NVRA is] to ensure that once registered, a vo&mains on the rolls so long as he or she is
eligible to vote in that jusdiction.”); H.R. Rep. No. 103-9, at 18 (1993). Section 8 then
provides an exhaustive list of the circumstangesifying removal: “ciminal conviction or
mental incapacity as provided by state law, thehde#tthe registrant, or . . . a change of the
registrant's residence.U.S. Student Ass'n Found. v. La®dd6 F.3d 373, 376 (6th Cir. 2008)
(citing 52 U.S.C. 88 20507(a)(3)-(4)). Umdsubsection (a)(4)—which ACRU'’s claim under
Count | is brought pursuant to—states are requioe“conduct a general program that makes a
reasonable effort to remove the names of ineligible voters from the official lists of eligible voters
by reason of (A) the death of thegrgtrant; or (B) a change in tmesidence of the registrant[.]”
52 U.S.C. § 20507(a)(4).

Finally, as noted by the Sixth Circuit iHusted “in subsection (c)(1) of Section 8,
Congress provided states with ewample of a procedure fatentifying and removing voters

who had changed residence that would comply with the NVRA's mandates and accompanying
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constraints. That subseati provides that ‘[a] Statenay meet the requirement of subsection
(a)(4) by establishing a program under which’eretwho appear to have moved based on
information contained in the NCOA database sent subsection)(donfirmation notices®
838 F.3d at 707 (quoting 52 U.S.C. § 20507(d)(1)) (@iten and emphasis in original). This
procedure, which the Snipes/United Motion religpon first and foremost, has been come to
known as the “safe-harbor’ procedureld.; seeECF No. [142] at 3 (“Because the undisputed
facts of this case demonstrate that Defendaimigementing the NCOA program in accordance
with the safe harbor provision, the county’s peog meets the requirements of subsection (a)(4).
For this reason alone, summary judgris warranted on Count 1.”).

As a preliminary matter, both Snipes and United initially raised the safe-harbor provision
when they previously moved to dismiss CountSee Bellitto v. Snipe221 F. Supp. 3d 1354,
1365-66 (S.D. Fla. 2016). Agreeing withe Sixth Circuis reasoning inrHusted this Court
noted that “full compliance with subsecti¢c)(1) [(the safe-harbor provision)] wouttbmply
with the NVRA’s mandates and accompanying constrairts.at 1365 (citingHusted 838 F.3d
at 707) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasided). The Court nonetheless declined to
dismiss Count | on the basis thfe safe-harbor provision, expiéng that whether Snipes fully
complied with the safe-harborquision “is a fact-based argumemibre properly addressed at a
later stage of the proceedingdd. at 1366. Even in addressingif@s and United’s reliance on

the safe-harbor provision at this stage of the proceedings, however, the Court does not take the

15 Subsection (d) establishes that states “shall not remove the name of a registrant from the official list of
eligible voters in elections for Federal office on the ground that the registrant has changed residence”
without first subjecting the registrant to the confirmation notice procedure outlined in that subsection. 52
U.S.C. § 20507(d)(1). That mandatory confirmatinotice procedure is as follows: “a forwardable
postage prepaid and pre-addressed form is sent to a antethe voter is removed from the rolls if (1) he

or she does not respond to the confirmation notice or update his or her registration, and (2) he or she does
not subsequently vote during a period of four eansive years that includes two federal elections.”
Husted 838 F.3d at 707 (citing 52 U.S.C. § 20507(d)).

31



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

view that, as a matter of law, full compliance wiitle safe-harbor provimn necessarily absolves
an election official of any liability under subsien (a)(4) of Section 8.

As the Sixth Circuit explained iRlusted “Section 8’s language pairs the mandate that
states maintain accurate voter rolls with multipanstraintson how the states may go about
doing so.” 838 F.3d at 705-06 (phasis added). In this Caigr view, the Sixth Circuit’s
attentiveness to the constranimposed upon election officiais their efforts to maintain
accurate voter rolls directly fiormed its treatment of the safe-harbor provision. More
specifically, the Sixth Circuit @wed the safe-harbor provisi@s Congress having provided
states with “an example” of a rdsince-change procedure “that woattmplywith the NVRA'’s
mandates and accompanyiognstraints’ Id. at 707 (emphasis added). But the Sixth Circuit
did not appear to view the safe-harbor provision—though an exaofpe procedure that
complieswith the NVRA (including its constraints on election officials)}—as an example of a
procedure thasatisfiesall of an election official’s duties under subsection (g)#hdeed, quite
the contrary, the Sixth Circuit appeared tketa much more limitediew, merely recognizing
that the defendant’s NCOA process, in miimg the safe-harbqgurocedure, “is thupermissible
under the NVRA.” Id. (emphasis added). it also worth noting thatiustedconcerned alleged
violations of Section 8 based dme removal of (as opposed tdalure to remove) registered
voters from the subject voter rolls—in particyuleemovals that were based only on changes of
residence.See idat 706.

Here, with no authority havingeen presented to suggest otvise, this Court holds that
although an election official’particular NCOA process for émtifying and removing voters who
have changed their residence is “permissiloheler the NVRA” if it mirrors the safe-harbor

provision outlined in subsection (c)(1) of Section 8, such a process does not necessarily
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demonstrate full satisfaction of all the dutieseowby that election official under subsection
(a)(4). Id. Subsection (a)(4) contemplatesnoval of ineligible voters from a state’s voter rolls
based on two specific circumstancesregistrant’'s chage of residenceind the death of a
registrant. See52 U.S.C. § 20507(a)(4). As “an example” of a “permissible” change-of-
residence procedure under the NVRAYsted 838 F.3d at 707, the safe-harbor provision says
nothing of an election official's “mandatesich accompanying restraints” as they relate to
deceased registrantddusted 838 F.3d at 707. The point is maelgpecially apparent in this
case, as the Amended Complaint specificallgges that Snipes inadequately removed the
names of registrants who have diedf. id. at 706 (“This case conaes the final circumstance
justifying removal—change of residencevhich is subject toits own mandate and
accompanying constraints.”). Accordingly, even if Snipes has fully complied with Section 8’s
safe-harbor provision—a determiizan the Court need not make at this point—such compliance
does not in and of itself entitle herjt@lgment as a matter of law on Count I.

Compliance with Section 8’s safe-harbor psion aside, Snipes and United also move
for summary judgment on Count | on the basis thatundisputed factdefinitively establish
that Snipes’ removal program is “remsble under the statutory standaft.ECF No. [142] at
13. Snipes and United emphasize the evidence piagaio all of the lismaintenance activities
that Snipes employs, and those dtitgé are undoubtedly extensiveSee id.at 14-15 (e.g.,
receiving and acting on daily updates from DQG#Bliciting responses from registrants with
felony convictions; reviewingral consolidating registratiorecords identified as duplicates;
employing specific procedures foegistrants who appear to hadeed). Snipes and United

further contend that “[tlhe objége results of Defendant’s general program and list maintenance

16 Notably, Snipes and United make no effort tentify exactly what that statutory standard for
reasonableness is and what its parameters are.
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activities demonstrate that heilogram has a real, substantial oueoin terms of the removal of
registrants deemed ineligible”. They point abét Snipes removed from the Broward County
voter rolls over 240,000 regrants between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2016, and
192,000 registrants between Jayug 2015 and January 10, 201d. at 15.

Notwithstanding the extensiversesf Snipes’ removal eff@tand the substantial amount
of removals that those efforts have resultgdACRU has presenteadmissible evidence—by
way of the analyses of Dr. Camarota—of vargh voter registration tas in Broward County
compared to voter registrati rates throughout the countrnseeECF No. [144] at 26-36. In
some instances, according to Dr. Camarota, Browzounty has had more or close to the same
amount of persons registered to votatasas had voting-age citizens in totabee id.at 33-4
(calculating rates in Broward County at 108.5%2010 and 96.7% in 2014, and opining that,
“[tlaken at face value, these nbers indicate that nearly every eligible person in Broward
County is registered to vote”). As for the votegistration rates natiolya and in Florida as a
whole, according to Dr. Camarota’s expert meptNationally, the [Census] Bureau reported
65.1% of voting-age citizens were registered 2010, 71.2% were gistered in 2012 (a
presidential electionear), and 64.6% in 2014. In Floridaasvhole, the corresponding figures
for these same years were 63%, 68.3%, and 62.6&6.at 34. Of course, Dr. Smith—Snipes
and United’s expert witness—claims that Dr.n@eiota’s analyses are misleading. But, in
addressing whether Snipes and United are edtith summary judgment on Count I, the Court
must accept the evidence provided by ACRU, the non-movant, and draw all reasonable
inferences in its favorSeeMontgomery v. Nogal68 F.3d 1282, 1289 (11th Cir. 1999). Other
than moving to exclude Dr. Camarota and his ex@gort, Snipes andnited do not address the

voter registration rates in Dr. Camarota’s expeport other than teay, without any supporting
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authority, that “the NVRA has no outcome-basdtedea for compliance.” ECF No. [142] at 16.
The Court does not agree with Snipes and Urltatloutcomes bear no significance whatsoever
when it comes to determining whether an etettofficial has met her duties under a statute
through which one of Congress’ stated purpase® “ensure that accate and current voter
registration rolls are maintainedHusted 838 F.3d at 705 (quoting 32.S.C. § 20501(b)). In
any event, such a position umdgts Snipes and United’s owemphasis on the amount of
registered voters that BCSEO has removed—whigs Court also deems relevant to such a
determination.

Ultimately, taking ACRU’s evidence as true, the voter registration rates extrapolated
from Broward County’s voter rolls at the veryabkt create a reasonable inference that Snipes,
despite all of the stated list maintenance rdfeshe has undertaken, has failed to meet the
reasonableness requirement unddrsection (a)(4) of Section 8See, e.g.Martinez—Rivera
166 F. Supp. 3d at 793-94 (“The high registmatirate in Zavala County creates a strong
inference that the Defendant hasglected her duty to maintaan accurate and current voter
registration roll.”);Wake Cty. Bd. of Election2017 WL 684185, at *4-5 (dwing inference in
favor of the plaintiff alleging arNVRA violation where the platiff alleged that “voter rolls
maintained by [the defendant] contain or have contained more registrants than eligible voting-
age citizens” and disregarding at the motiondismiss stage the “potentially reasonable
explanation for the high registrati rate”). As such, the Court finds that Snipes and United have
not shown the absence of a genussie of material fact as to eter Snipes, in light of those
voter registration rates, has conducted a gérmram that makes a reasonable effort to

remove the names of ineligible voters from tféicial lists of eligide voters by reason of a
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registrant’s death oa resident’s changa residence.See52 U.S.C. § 20507(a)(4). As such,
Snipes and United are not erddlto judgment as a matterlafv with respect to Count I.
2. Claim for Failure to Disclose (Count Il)

Subsection 8(i)(1) of the NVRA mandates publisattisure of all records related to voter
registration and list-maintenancetiaities. It provides in relevant part as follows: “Each State
shall maintain for at least 2 years and shall make available for public inspection . . . all records
concerning the implementation of programs arti/iéies conducted for thpurpose of ensuring
the accuracy and currency of official lists dig#le voters . . . .” 52 U.S.C. 8§ 20507(i)(1).
“This language embodies Congress's conviction #raericans who areligible under law to
vote have every right to exercidbeir franchise, a right that must not be sacrificed to
administrative chicanery, oversights, or inefficiencieBroject Vote/Voting for America, Inc. v.
Long 682 F.3d 331, 334-35 (4th Cir. 2012).

In moving for summary judgment on Count ACRU argues that Snipes has failed to
comply with this public disclosure mandate by failing to provide or make available for inspection
the following categories of documentsatjuested in its January 26, 2016 letter:

(1) updated registration data sathe publication of inforntimn reported by the EAC for
2014 from the 2014 EAC Report;

(2) the number of notices setd inactive voters since ¢hpublication of the 2014 EAC
Report, including the date, scope, and contehtmy mailing sent to all (“not just []
active”) registered voters;

(3) the total number of votersegistered in Broward Countas of the date of any
response;

(4) any records indicating theise of citizenship or mmigration status for list
maintenance activities; and

(5) all list maintenance records includingdéral voter registration forms containing

citizenship eligibility questionnaires féine previous 22 months, which, according to
ACRU, contemplates the following: (a) cepiof all invoices and statements from
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any outside vendors Snipes works with in doing list maintenance mailings; (b)
records of complaints received regardirgg fhaintenance issues; (c) communications
from and to the DOS office; (d) recoradated to USPS NCOA tibase requests and
usage; and (e) a current list of aljigered voters (active and inactive).
ECF No. [117] at 14-15. Snipesunters in her motion for sumary judgment on Count Il by
emphasizing that “thousands ptiblic records have been pradua”’ to ACRU thus far, and
further claiming that “there are no documentguested and available from Defendant Snipes
that has not already been prowdde ECF No. [145] at 2-3. TehCourt will address each motion
and their respectivarguments in turn.

As a preliminary matter, however, insofss ACRU seeks underognt Il a declaration
from the Court that Snipes has violate@ thublic disclosure requirement under subsection
8(i)(1) of the NVRA,see generalfeCF No. [12] at 9 (praying faa declaration “that Defendant
is in violation of Section 8 of the NVRA”), éhCourt considers the operative time period to be
the time between ACRU’s January 26, 2016 ledigd the filing of this suit on June 27, 2016.
Under 52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(2), a potential defemds allowed 90 day®llowing receipt of a
notice of a purported NVRA violain to correct that violation bare the potential plaintiff may
bring suit. In this case, that notice was theuday 26, 2016 letter, and so Snipes had at least 90

days from the date she received that letter tweco the potential public disclosure violation

identified thereir! It is precisely that claimed violation—which encompasses all of the

" The parties appear to be in agreement thafdineary 26, 2016 letter constituted sufficient notice for
purposes of ACRU'’s failure to disclose claim undewu@ Il. Nonetheless, and despite the issue having
not been raised on summary judgment or at any otie during these proceedings, the Court questions
whether the letter can constitute sufficient notice garposes of ACRU’s claim for failure to make
reasonable efforts to conduct votert limaintenance programs under Courdnid ACRU'’s failure to
disclose claim under Count Il. Specifically, the letter contemplated one potential NVRA violation, the
violation claimed under Count 1.SeeECF No. [12-1] at 2 (“[T]he list maintenance requirements of
Section 8 of the NVRA [] ensure that ineligible vata@re not participating in the political process . . . .
The American Civil Rights Union has [] taken on the task of notifying you of your county’s violation.”).
The letter did not contemplate the NVRA violatioaioted under Count Il, nor could it have; being the
first correspondence between ACRU and Snipes, the letter represents the first time ACRU requested list
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communications and interactiotfsat took place between ACR&hd Snipes from January 26,
2016 to June 27, 2016—and Snipes alleged failumdtect it up to theommencement of this
suit that is reflected in the Amended Complaigee, e.g. ECF No. [12] at § 33 (“Defendant has
failed to respond adequately to Plaintiff's writteguest for data, failed to produce or otherwise
failed to make records available to PIdisticoncerning Defendant’s implementation of
programs and activities for ensurititge accuracy and currency dfical lists of eligible voters
for Broward County, in violation of Section 8 . . Defendant has rebuffed efforts to meet to
discuss and implement remediaap$ to cure this violatial) (emphasis added). To the extent
that the Court considers thé&ats undertaken by Snipes sintde filing of this suit—which
seems to be the primary focus of ACRU’s &mipes’ respective motions for summary judgment
on Count ll—the Court does so only for the purposes addressing ACRU’s request for an
injunction requiring Snipes to tibstantively respond to [ACRU wvritten request for records
concerning her implementation of [list maintana] programs and activities . . . and provide
access to election recordsECF No. [12] at 10.
a. ACRU’s Motion

At the outset, the Court notdsat ACRU’s Motion is premised on Snipes’ alleged failure
to provide records throughoutetttourse of this litigationSeeECF No. [117] at 14-15. With
that in mind, the Court makes a seemynglbvious but nevertheless important—indeed

dispositive—observation. In support of its tima for summary judgment, ACRU cites to

maintenance records from Snipe#n other words, although the letter notified Snipes of a potential
NVRA violation for her alleged faike to make reasonable effotis conduct voter list maintenance
programs, as far as public disclosure is concernedgttiee merely requested for the first time Snipes’ list
maintenance recordsSee id.at 4 (“We would like to discuss with your office how to implement a
remedial plan which could cure what appears to be a violation of Section 8 of the NVR#sdNVequest

the opportunity to inspect the list maintenance docusneutlined above.”) (emphasis added). It would
seem to follow, then, that Smip was never provided written notice of the potential NVRA violation
claimed under Count Il or afforded 90 days after such written notice by which to cure the potential
violation—the lapse of which gives rise to the private cause of acBes52 U.S.C. 88 20510(b)(1), (2).
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Project Vote/Voting foAmerica, Inc. v. Long682 F.3d 331, 334-35 (4th Cir. 20123eeECF
No. [117] at 10-13. Ihong the Fourth Circuit affirmed the strict court’s ganting of summary
judgment in favor of the plaintiff organizatidhat sought records undiére NVRA, whereby the
district court concludethat Section 8’s public disclosurequerement applies to completed voter
registration applications. 6823d at 333. The plaintiff orgaration had specifically requested
from the defendant—a city official responsible processing voter registration applications—all
voter registration applications submitted idgr a certain time period, but the defendant
repeatedly denied the requeskee id.at 333-34. The defendant’s denial was based on her
contention that the text of Section 8(i)(1) does$ neguire public disclosure of completed voter
registration applications, but instead appliesydolrecords concerning programs and activities
“related to thepurging of voters from the list ofegistered voters.’ld. at 335 (emphasis added).
The Fourth Circuit rejected a&h interpretation, concluding dh “the phrase ‘all records
concerning the implementation of programs artd/iéies conducted for thpurpose of ensuring
the accuracy and currency of official lists of eligible voters’ unmistakably encompasses
completed voter registration applications[.]id. at 336 (quoting 52 U.S.C. 8§ 20507(i)(1)).
Similarly, in Project Vote v. Kemp208 F. Supp. 3d 1320 (N.D. G2016), also cited to by
ACRU, seeECF No. [117] at 13-14, the Northern Distraft Georgia rejected the argument that
records stored in electronic form are not subjecSection 8's public dclosure requirement.
The court reasoned: “Interpretifigecords’ to exclude informain contained within electronic
databases also would allow States to circurhieeir NVRA disclosure obligations simply by
choosing to store information in a particularmrmar. Given the ubiquity and ease of electronic

storage, this would effectivelgnder Section 8(i) a nullity. Kemp 208 F. Supp. 3d at 1336.

39



Case No. 16-cv-61474-BLOOM/Valle

In relying onLong and Kemp ACRU appears to imply that Snipes has withheld the
production of certain relevantaerds on the bases that suelcards either exceed the NVRA's
two-year retention period or erstored only in electronic formECF No. [117] at 13. More
specifically, ACRU asserts as follows:

The same reasoning [lrong should apply to the two-year retention requirement.

That is a floor, not a ceiling. If anegtion official maintans records for longer

than two years, they must be subject to disclosure.

Finally, electronic records housed within databases are altgecs to the public

disclosure and inspectionguisions of the NVRA. To the extent that any records

that have not been disclosed by Defendamipes are housed electronically, they

are subject to the NVRA'disclosure provision.

Id. However, other than theseguee assertions, ACRU offers naity whatsoever as to which
specific category of records it has reqedsthat Snipes has refused to prodagpressly on
account of the above mentioned baseQuite the contrary, Snipes’ opposition to ACRU’s
Motion—as well her own motion faummary judgment on Count llpesits that no documents
requested by ACRU have been withheffeeECF No. [129] at 7 (“Snipes has made no attempt
to be uncooperative in the production of docuteeihere has been no refusal or objection to
providing any document(s). Even e Plaintiff was notlear in its litigation discovery request,

. . . the documents were still provided. Thousasiddocuments have been provided to date.”);
ECF No. [145] at 3 (“At thistime, there are no documents requested and available from
Defendant Snipes that has not already beewiged.”). In other words, Snipes—unlike the
defendants irLong and Kemp—does not concede that she hasised to provide records that
ACRU has requested, let alone offer an exprasisnale justifying any refusal on her part to
provide such records. In th&ense, this case is very difat from those cases. In bdtbng

and Kemp there was no dispute that a certain and definitive category of records had been

withheld from the requesting prdiffs—i.e., voter registrationpplications and all information
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contained within electronic databases—ané thefendants maintained their reasoning for
refusing disclosure of the requested recordsudhout the respective litigations in unequivocal
fashion. The courts’ respiace rulings wee specific to thas circumstancesSeel.ong 682 F.3d
at 332-33 (“The question here is whether tBec 8(i)(1) . . . applies to completed voter
registration applications.”Xemp 208 F. Supp. 3d at 1335-41 (ijag defendant’s “implicit[]
argu[ment] that the Requested Records maintained in electronic format on the Database are not
‘records’[under Section 8(i)(1Qecause that term is limited to physical documents”). The same
simply cannot be said here. To that extent, ACRU'’s reliandeongandKempis inapposite.
Importantly, the distinction illuminates what aumds to a factual dispute that is material
with respect to thenjunctive relief ACRU seeks under Count Il—that is, an injunction
“‘commanding Defendant to permit inspections ebéction records punant to 52 U.S.C. §
20507(i).” ECF No. [12] at § 1. Down to its silagt form, the parties dispute whether in fact
Snipes has provided all of thecoeds requested by ACRU—a dispuhat goes to the heart of
the relief ACRU seeks in under its Section 8(i)(1) clatBee52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)(1) (requiring
that each State “make availalfior public inspection . . . atecords” concerning programs and
activities related to voter registration and list maintenance). As alluded to earlier, Snipes claims
that she has fully compliedithh ACRU’s records request$aving handed over to ACRU
thousands of BCSEO documents. To the exteattthere are requests BRU that have gone
unfulfilled, Snipes contends that some oe trequests in ACRU’s January 26, 2016 letter
required “the creation of new records . . . oquieed the reviewer tguess the nature of the
[request].” ECF No. [129] &. ACRU contends, on the other hand, that the January 26, 2016

letter “did not call for the creation of neveaords or require any gs&ng as to what was
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requested. . . . [and] outlined specific categories of list maintenance retofi§E No. [130] at
3. However, it is not for the Court to weigh the summary judgment stage the competing
interpretations as to the achievability or clarityAZRU’s requests. Rather, in this context, the
Court must draw all reasonable inferencesiregf ACRU, whose motion for summary judgment
is under considerationSeeGroup, 408 F.3d at 1331. Other than its own conclusory assertions,
ACRU has made no meaningfuteahpt to explain why Snipes’ ntention that some of ACRU’s
requests call for records that a@t in existence or are otherwigeclear is an usasonable one.
And the Court does not considsuch an inference unreasible given the circumstances,
especially in light of the dct that ACRU has receivedom Snipes—through substantial
discovery—documents numbering in the thousanésr example, ACRU offers no explanation
as to why or how the thousands of documerds $mipes has provided are not responsive to any
of the categories of documentatiMCRU maintains that Snipéss continued to withhold. Nor
has ACRU specified whether any of those categoof documents are indeed both in existence
and in the possession of Snipe3ee generallynited States v. Dunked27 F.2d 955, 956 (7th
Cir. 1991) (“Judges are not like pigs, hugtifor truffles buried in briefs.”)Chavez v. Sec’y
Florida Dep’t of Corr, 647 F.3d 1057, 1061 (11th Cir. 2011)iKewise, district court judges
are not required to ferret out delectafdets buried in a massive record.”) (citibginke| 927
F.2d at 956).

Accordingly, the Court is siafied that, withrespect to ACRU’dMotion on Count I,

Snipes has raised a material issue of fact asghether she has, throughout the course of this

8 To be sure, ACRU does not argue in its motion for summary judgment on Count Il that Snipes has, in
addition to allegedly failing to prade requested records, failed nmaintain any records that Section 8
requires the maintenance ofee generallkKemp 208 F. Supp. 3d at 1343 n.35 (“Whether a record is
required to be maintained is diffetefrom a claim that a maintained record is required to be disclosed.
The question whether Defendant failed to maintai® or more records is not presently before the
Court.”).
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litigation, sufficiently provided &lof the records requested by ACRU as required under Section
8(i)(1) so as to potentially neler moot ACRU'’s request for an injunction requiring Snipes to
substantively and completely respondtsowritten request for records.
b. Snipes’ Motion

The Court begins with another obvious ehstion. Inexplicably, despite aptly
describing the material issue of fact outlined\abas a “tremendous factual dispute” in arguing
against ACRU’s Motion, ECF No1p9] at 6, Snipes makes an about-face in her own motion for
summary judgment, asserting that “there are nuige issues of material fact related to Count
lI[,]” ECF No. [145] at 1-2. As mentioned, Snipelaims that she has provided all of the records
requested by ACRU. According to Snipe€RU has “attempt[ed] to ‘game’ the NVRA law by
seeking and pursuing less [sic] information tharactually available and then claiming that
Snipes is somehow negligenther duty to produce documentsECF No. [145] at 3. Overall,
Snipes’ Motion does not alter the Court’s view tRatunt Il is not withoutt least one genuine
issue of material fact.

First, with respect to the interactions thlwtcurred prior to the commencement of this
suit, Snipes asserts that followi ACRU’s January 26, 2016 lettéfa]t no time did [she] refuse
to provide documents or allowrfan inspection of documentsld. at 6. This assertion speaks
to the phone call thabtk place between Snipes and ACRI#gal representate on April 5,
2016. SeegenerallyECF No. [12] at T 24 (eging that on the Apki5, 2016 phone call Snipes
“declined to set up [] a meeting” to discuss rdmksteps and the current status of the voter
rolls). According to Snipes, during that phorel she “provided theamtact information for

[her] General Counsel in ordém coordinate inspection andlifaw-up.” ECF No. [145] at 6
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(citing ECF No. [129-2] at 2-3). According ACRU'’s counsel, howevethe phone call went as
follows:

| just got off the phone with Brenda Sag The general thenof the call was

“why are you singling out Broward when yownséetters to 6 other counties.” She

even said that Miami-Dade has more people. That asheegeclined to meet with

us to discuss only Browar&he said she would meet only if representatives from

the other 6 counties were included.
ECF No. [131-1] at 3 (emphasis addesBe alsd=CF No. [118-1] at 3, § 12[Pefendant refused
to meet to discuss remedies and permit inspection of recddfendant Snipes suggested that
ACRU should focus on Miami-Dade County instead.”) (emphasis added). But Snipes denies
that she ever refused to providecdments or allow for an inspectio®eeECF No. [129-2] at 3,
19 7-8. As ACRU correctly points out, then, K] characterization of that phone call differs
profoundly between the parties . . . .” ECF Nib7] at 10. Importanyl, the nature of that
phone call is germane to ACRU'’s claim under Cdunas the Amended Complaint specifically
alleges under Count Il that Snipes “failed gooduce or otherwise ifad to make records
available . . . . [and] rebuffed efforts to meetltecuss and implement remedial plans to cure this
violation.” ECF No. [R] at  33. Relatedly, ACRU arguttgat Snipes’ February 8, 2016 letter
in response to ACRU’s January 26, 2016 feti@hich only provided to ACRU certain
certifications, constituted a “less-than-completsponse to ACRU'’s record request.” ECF No.
[157] at 11. Given that Snipes has simmeduced thousands of more records throughout
discovery in response BCRU’s initial requests in the January 26, 2016 letter, such an inference
is far from unreasonable. In any event, whether Snipes’ initial response in her February 8, 2016

letter and her alleged refudal arrange a meeting with@RU during the April 5, 2016 phone

call—both occurring before this suit was eWiégd—would constitute an insufficient response
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for purposes of Section 8’s public disclosure reqnést remains a material issue of fact to be
determined at trial®

Second, with respect to the discovery conductepaasof this litigéion, Snipes asserts
that “[alny documents that Plaifi believes it does not have agepart of the VR System for
which Plaintiff has not performed any due diligeta@inderstand.” ECF®& [145] at 3. Snipes
then elaborates on how ACRU, in making “litttéoet to determine how the VR System stores
computer documents relating to NVRA[,]” has elected not to “d&positions of anybody
associated with the computsystem operations” (such as M) and declined to “conduct a
computer inspection of the VR System contagna great majority of the records related to
NVRA disclosure requirements” at thendiary 13, 2017 inspection, despite having the
opportunity to do sold. at 3-4. Implicit in Snipes’ focus arcords stored electronically in the
VR System is the notion that Segpis not required tperhaps because she is unable to) produce
such record€® See idat 3(citing ECF No. [111-2] at 83ee alscECF No. [111-2] at 8 (Snipes’
objection to ACRU'’s request for production itatg to written policis and manuals: “[U]ser
guides are contained within the VR System for which VR System third party contracted
vendor considers conftial and proprietary informatiomequiring court intervention for a
final determinatior’) (emphasis in original). Howeve§nipes does not cite to any supporting

case law, nor has the Court found any, to inditlad¢ records stored within the database of a

9 ACRU takes this point a step further in ifsposition to Snipes’ Motion by arguing that it entitles
ACRU to summary judgment on Count I&ee id(“Defendant Snipes’s violation of the NVRA is readily
apparent: not only did she not produce all recordsesiqd, she refused to meet with ACRU to permit
inspection of records. On this record, ACRU is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”). However, the
factual dispute concerning Snipes’ alleged refusapermit an inspection aside (which ACRU itself
recognizes), ACRU did not, in its motion for summary judgment on Count Il, raise this specific argument.
SeeECF No. [117] at 9-15. The Court will not affobCRU a second bite at the apple by attempting to,

in seeking summary judgment, rely on an arguntiegt it raises in opposition to Snipes’ Motion but that

it did not raise in its own motion for summary judgment filed months earlier.

2 To be sure, however, nowhere does Snipes claim that BCSEO does not have access to records
contained within the VR System.
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third party whom a NVRA recosdholder contracts with necesbarfall outside the scope of
Section 8’s public disclosure requirement.
Finally, Snipes asserts that ACRU abandbtiee requests it mada its January 26,

2016 letter when it filed suit, apparently becausdrBXhas since “[taken] no effort to request or
clarify documents that were reénced and a part of [the let.” ECF No. 145 at 8. Snipes
once again argues that “the letter was deficientsimequest for documents that would require
creation (not in existence)and further argues, withouugporting authority, that “NVRA'’s
‘public disclosure’ of voter registration activities requirementtesldo records that are actually
in existence.” Id. However, as already discussed; purposes of the injunction sought by
ACRU under Count Il, the Court will not weigh #ite summary judgment stage the competing
interpretations as to whether ACRU’s regsesbught documents not in existence or were
otherwise unclear in nature.

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds thathee ACRU nor Snipes has demonstrated
through their respective motions that they aréledtto judgment as a rttar of law wth respect
to Count Il. To sum up, and for the sake of clarity moving forward, théstsexgenuine factual
issue as to whether Snipes indeed refudadng the April 5, 2016 lpne call to arrange a
meeting with ACRU for an inspection of BCSE@fice and records, as ACRU alleges. If true,
Snipes’ pre-suit refusal along wilter initial productiorof BCSEO certifications in her February
8, 2016 response letter—only to be followed by peoduction of thousands of admittedly
responsive documentdter this suit was filed—could suppoat finding that Snipes did violate
the NVRA'’s public disclosure requirement under sdbieon 8(i)(1) before this suit was filed.
See52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)(1). Conversely, Snipesy have never refused to arrange an

inspection meeting with ACRU, but instead mayédadvised ACRU that such a meeting would
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need to be arranged through her General Couasefnipes alleges. If true, and if ACRU
declined to follow up on that invitation for theearly three months that passed before ACRU
filed suit in June 2016, ACRU'’s inspectiasf BCSEQO’s office and records and Snipes’
production of thousands of responsive documents following the commencement of this suit could
support a finding that Snipes did not violate NVRA'’s public disclsure requirement under
subsection 8(i)(1) before this suit was filed.is the time period between ACRU’s January 26,
2016 letter and thiling of this suit—which includes the 90 day curative period contemplated by
52 U.S.C. § 20510(b)(2), the lapse of which gixiee to the private ese of action—that the
Court deems operative in determining whether Snipes violated subsection 8(i)(1)'s public
disclosure requirement. With respect to thecdc injunction ACRU seeks under Count I, to
the extent that ACRU claims that Snipes camsto withhold records her possession that are
responsive to its January 26, 2016 letter, ACRUWU kave to at a minimum (1) itemize with
particularity those records and) @xplain how and why the thousanafsrecords that have been
produced do not satisfy its portedly outstanding requests.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it@GRDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:

1. ACRU’s Motion,ECF No. [117] isDENIED.

2. Snipes’ MotionECF No. [145] isDENIED.

a. ACRU’'s Motion to Strike Defendant Brenda Snipes’s Partial Motion for
Summary Judgment on CountBCF No. [149] is DENIED as moot*

3. The Snipes/United MotiorsCF No. [142] isDENIED.

2L ACRU’s Motion to Strike Defendant Brenda Snipes’s Partiatitiofor Summary Judgment on Count
Il seeks the same relief as did the motion ACRU fde@&CF No. [153], which the Court denied on June
5, 2017.Se= ECF No. [154].
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a. Snipes and United’s Motion to Strikélaintiffs Summary Judgment Evidence,
ECF No. [164] is DENIED as moot?
4. United’'s Daubert Motion, ECF No. [144] is GRANTED in part andDENIED in
part, as set forth in this Order.

DONE and ORDERED in Miami, Florida, this 11th day of July, 2017.

BETH BLOOM
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Copies to:
Counsel of Record

2 Snipes and United’s Motion to Strike Plaintiff'siBmary Judgment Evidence requested that the Court
strike evidence ACRU submitted support of its opposition to the Seg/United Motion that, ultimately,
this Court did not consider in denying the Snipes/United Motion.
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